0/A 1-13-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA...

CASE NO. 72,388

PENELOPE R. KUJAWA, as beneficiary of JOHN A. KUJAWA, Deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

MANHATTAN NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN A. EDELSTEIN, ESQUIRE LAW OFFICES OF ROLAND GOMEZ 8100 Oak Lane Miami Lakes, Florida 33016 (305) 825-5506 - Dade (305) 766-2990c- Broward

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This was an action that was initially brought to recover the proceeds of a life insurance policy, but which was subsequently amended to include a claim under Florida's Civil Remedy Statute, §624.155 Fla.Stat. During the course of the proceedings, the life insurance policy proceeds were paid, and the matter thereafter continued to be prosecuted solely based upon an alleged violation of the Civil Remedy Statute.

Petitioner, PENELOPE R. KUJAWA, as beneficiary of JOHN A. KUJAWA, Deceased [hereinafter "KUJAWA"], was the Plaintiff, and Respondent, MANHATTAN NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY [hereinafter "MANHATTAN"], was the Defendant.Throughout this Brief, references will be made to the following Appendices:

Appendix A: Manhattan National Life Ins. Co. v. Kujawa, 522 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

Appendix B: Fidelity & Casualty Ins. Co. of New York v. Taylor, 525 So.2d 908 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

Appendix C: The Appendix filed by KUJAWA in the Fourth District Court of Appeal as part her Response to Show Cause Order Why Petition Should Not Be Granted [The Clerk of the Fourth District Court of Appeal has indicated that this Appendix is being forwarded to the Supreme Court, and that reference to same is appropriate].

After the claim for life insurance policy proceeds was resolved, and during the course of discovery proceedings related solely to the statutory claim for alleged "bad faith", KUJAWA sought production of MANHATTAN's entire files, which request was objected to on the grounds that:

1. The request is objected to insofar as it calls for production of legal department files, on the basis of attorney-client privilege and work product.

KUJAWA responded to the objections, indicating that the claim was largely handled by MANHATTAN's in-house attorneys and counsel, and that the production was necessary for the prosecution of the statutory Civil Remedy claim. To this extent, it was noted that the only source for the information requested was from MANHATTAN.

The trial court overruled MANHATTAN's objection and ordered the files to be produced.

MANHATTAN filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Fourth District court of Appeal, which granted Certiorari and quashed the Circuit Court Order that had required production of

MANHATTAN'S files. Manhattan National Life Insurance Co. v. Kujawa, 522 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) [Appendix A 1].

This Petition for Review has been filed based upon a conflict existing between the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the within cause, and the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in Fidelity & Casualty Ins. Co. of New York v. Taylor, 525 So.2d 908 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) [Appendix B 1]. Jurisdiction vests pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(3) Fla.Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

POINT INVOLVED ON PETITION FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT QUASHED THE CIRCUIT COURT ORDER THAT REQUIRED MANHATTAN COMPLETE FILES, PRODUCE ITS THIS CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF FLORIDA'S CIVIL REMEDY STATUTE, §624.155 FLA. STAT.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

ON AUGUST 2, 1985, JOHN A. KUJAWA WAS A PASSENGER ON DELTA AIR LINES FLIGHT NO. 191. HE DIED WHEN THE PLANE CRASHED AT DALLAS-FORT WORTH AIRPORT [Appendix C 1].

At the time of his death, JOHN A. KUJAWA was employed by Ropes Association, Inc., Fort Lauderdale, Florida, which, as part of its benefit program, had obtained a term life insurance policy through MANHATTAN, covering Mr. KUJAWA's life for \$50,000. Following the death of Mr. KUJAWA, a claim for such life insurance benefits was prepared and forwarded to MANHATTAN, which claim was received on October 4, 1985 [Appendix C 5, 10].

Three weeks thereafter, on October 25, 1985, when no response to the claim was received, Robert W. Marsh, the Treasurer of Ropes Associates, Inc., contacted MANHATTAN and was advised that the insurance company was going to exercise its rights under a contestability clause to investigate the statements made by Mr. KUJAWA on the insurance application concerning his health. Following discussions with MANHATTAN's claims handler and General Counsel, Mr. Marsh submitted an initial complaint of "bad faith" handling of KUJAWA's claim, in an October 29, 1985 letter addressed to Florida Insurance Commissioner Bill Gunter. The letter specifically stated, inter alia, that:

Both Mr. Koonjy [MANHATTAN's claims handler] and Mr. Corselli, Manhattan's General Counsel, have stated to us that they intend to seek out any possible grounds upon which they can invalidate the policy and deny the claim [Appendix C 5-6].*

On October 30, 1985, counsel for KUJAWA wrote to MANHATTAN, advising that if payment of the life insurance proceeds was not promptly received, litigation would be instituted [Appendix C 7]. Thereafter, on November 13, 1985, counsel for KUJAWA also wrote a letter to Florida Insurance Commissioner Bill Gunter, with a copy to MANHATTAN, in compliance with the sixty (60) day notice provisions required under the Civil Remedy Statute, §624.155 Fla.Stat. [Appendix C 8]. Since Robert W. Marsh had previously

^{*} MANHATTAN has admitted that its General Counsel, Andrew Corselli received this letter. All other correspondence referred to herein originated from MANHATTAN, was produced by MANHATTAN through discovery procedures, or the receipt and authenticity of such correspondence has been admitted by MANHATTAN [Appendix C 23-24].

written to Mr. Gunter on October 25, 1985, this was the second "bad faith" letter written to the Florida Insurance Commissioner.

The within litigation was instituted on November 18, 1985, through the filing of a complaint [Appendix C 5-26]. A letter dated November 21, 1985 was subsequently received from MANHATTAN, indicating that before the claim could be paid, a prompt "routine investigation" would have to be performed, and that any delay in completing such investigation was occasioned by KUJAWA's refusal to provide a medical authorization and an interview concerning her deceased husband [Appendix C 9-10].

As a consequence, after receiving assurance from MANHATTAN's counsel that the investigation would be completed and the proceeds of the life insurance policy disbursed within two (2) weeks [Appendix C 11], KUJAWA provided a signed medical authorization [Appendix C 27], and agreed to give a sworn statement. This was done, despite the fact that there was no policy provision contained within the MANHATTAN policy which required that medical authorizations or sworn statements be provided as a condition to obtaining policy proceeds. Rather, MANHATTAN acknowledged that it was requiring this as a matter of its customary procedure [Appendix C 28-29, 30].

In response to a later request from KUJAWA [Appendix C 15-16], MANHATTAN attempted to justify its requirement that a medical authorization be provided, as well as a sworn statement of KUJAWA, based upon §4224(a)(1) of the New York Insurance Law, a copy of which was provided by MANHATTAN. In reviewing such provision, however, it was clear that the statute referred to discrimination

in amounts or payments of premiums, rates, benefits, or in the terms and conditions of policies. The cited provision had nothing whatsoever to do with the handling or investigation of claims [Appendix C 17, 32-36].

In the discovery that has been provided to date, it is obvious that MANHATTAN's protestations that it was merely conducting a "routine investigation", as stated in its November 21, 1985 letter to KUJAWA's counsel [Appendix C 9-10], were at best inaccurate, but more likely intentionally false. Instead of a "routine investigation", an extensive Equifax Investigation was commenced in a clear attempt to find some means of invalidating the policy and thereby denying the claim for life insurance benefits, despite the fact that JOHN A. KUJAWA's death was clearly not the result of any hidden health problem. Such investigation included the canvassing of ten (10) hospitals located within a six (6) mile radius of Mr. KUJAWA's residence; and when that proved uneventful -- only one hospital admission was discovered, and that was for a different John A. Kujawa, who had a different date of birth, a different social security number, a different wife, and who resided in Arkansas [Appendix C 69, 84] -- the search was expanded to nine (9) other hospitals in Broward County, extending from Hollywood, Florida to Pompano Beach, Florida [Appendix C 69-70]. Equifax also took a sworn statement from KUJAWA, and then checked with a former employer of Mr. KUJAWA's to determine if there had been any time lost from work due to illness or sickness, and learned that there had not been any [Appendix C 78-79].

On January 17, 1986, MANHATTAN finally agreed to pay the claim presented by KUJAWA. Such payment, however, was conditioned upon a settlement of all causes of action [Appendix C 13-14]. Because the sixty (60) day notice to settle under §624.155 Fla.Stat. had expired without payment of the policy proceeds, and because of the problems she had encountered in dealing with MANHATTAN, KUJAWA was unwilling to execute a full and complete release and to dismiss the entire lawsuit. Instead, she filed an Amended Complaint which included a claim under the Civil Remedies Statute [Appendix C 105-108].

MANHATTAN filed an Answer to KUJAWA's Amended Complaint, and included therein a Counterclaim for Interpleader [Appendix C 109-134]. KUJAWA responded with a Reply to Affirmative Defenses [Appendix C 135], and moved to dismiss the Counterclaim on the grounds that there was no basis for an interpleader action, since she, KUJAWA, was the only party claiming an interest in the policy proceeds [Appendix C 136-137].

Ultimately, MANHATTAN did settle KUJAWA's primary claim for life insurance policy proceeds in May, 1986, nine (9) months after the death of JOHN A. KUJAWA. The settlement included the payment of \$51,581.80 [the face value of the policy plus interest] to KUJAWA, with the right to continue with her "bad faith" action under the Civil Remedy Statute, §624.155 Fla.Stat. [Appendix C 143], and the voluntary dismissal of MANHATTAN's Counterclaim for Interpleader [Appendix C 144].

Thereafter, subsequent to the conclusion of the handling of KUJAWA's claim for insurance policy proceeds, and solely as part

of her claim under §624.155 **Fla.Stat.**, KUJAWA sought production of MANHATTAN's entire claim files [Appendix C 145], which MANHATTAN objected to on the grounds that:

1. The request is objected to insofar as it calls for production of legal department files, on the basis of attorney-client privilege and work product [Appendix C 146].

The materials which KUJAWA requested, however, are crucial to the presentation of her claim since, from the very beginning, a large portion of the handling of KUJAWA's claim was done by MANHATTAN's in-house attorneys and counsel, including Andrew Corselli and Evan Giller. Additionally, the information requested is clearly unavailable from any other source.

MANHATTAN's objection to the requested discovery was heard by the Circuit Court, following which an Order was entered on May 6, 1987, overruling MANHATTAN's objection, and ordering that the claims files be produced [Appendix C 147]. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was then filed by MANHATTAN in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, seeking review of such order. The Petition was subsequently granted, and the order of the Circuit Court was quashed. Manhattan National Life Ins. Co. v. Kujawa, 522 So.2d 1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). The present Petition for Review is directed to the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which quashed the Circuit Court order that required MANHATTAN to produce its complete claims files.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Historically, the investigative and claims files of insurance carriers have been protected from discovery under the attorney-client privilege and as work product. An exception to this protection involved third-party "bad faith" cases, where an injured party obtains a judgment in excess of available insurance coverages, in which case the tort-feasor's insurance carrier can be held liable for such excess amounts if it acted fraudulently or in "bad faith" in providing a defense for its insured.

Florida's Civil Remedy Statute §624.155 Fla.Stat., which became effective in 1982, for the first time created a cause of action for an insurance carrier's failure to act in "good faith" with regard to a first party claim for insurance benefits that may be presented by its insured. The statute, by operation of law, became a part of all insurance contracts in Florida. As a consequence, each policy of insurance issued after October 1, 1982 contained a statutorily created duty on the part of insurance carriers to act in good faith toward their insureds, when handling and settling first-party claims. This duty was identical to the fiduciary duty which required that insurance carriers not act in "bad faith" toward their insureds when handling third-party claims.

If an action is brought against an insurance carrier, pursuant to §624.155 Fla.Stat. for alleged breach of this duty, the insured, after the primary claim for insurance benefits is resolved, is entitled to obtain the insurance carrier's

complete investigative and claims files through discovery, if the need for such files is adequately shown.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT QUASHED THE CIRCUIT COURT ORDER THAT REQUIRED MANHATTAN TO PRODUCE COMPLETE FILES, IN THIS CAUSE ITS ACTION VIOLATION FOR FLORIDA'S CIVIL REMEDY STATUTE §624.155 FLA.STAT.

The issue raised by the present Petition for Review concerns whether the entire files of an insurance company are subject to discovery, in an action brought against such insurance company solely for alleged failure to act in "good faith" as required by Florida's Civil Remedy Statute, §624.155 Fla.Stat. In the present case, the Circuit Court determined that the insurance carrier, MANHATTAN, was required to provide such discovery. On certiorari, however, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the requested discovery was protected, and quashed the order of the Circuit Court.

In contrast to the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal under review herein, the Third District Court of Appeal has held, in Fidelity & Casualty Ins. Co. of New York v. Taylor, 525 So.2d 908 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), that insurance company files are subject to discovery in actions brought pursuant to §624.155 Fla.Stat.

In order to resolve the conflict between the opinions of the Third District Court of Appeal and the Fourth District Court of

Appeal, it is first necessary to place the issue in its proper perspective.

Initially, this Court established that insurance company investigative files were protected in Vann v. State, 85 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1956), which held that a report or other communication made by an insured to his liability insurance carrier, concerning an event which might form the basis of a claim against him that would be covered by the policy, is privileged as between attorney and client, if the insured is required to be defended under the policy terms. This application of the attorney-client privilege, as protecting communications between an insured and his insurer concerning a claim, has been generally followed by Florida Appellate Courts over the years. Grand Union v. Patrick, 247 So.2d 474 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971); Sligar v. Tucker, 267 So.2d 54 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972); Staton v. Allied Chain Link Fence Co., 418 So.2d 404 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982).

In addition to the protection afforded under the attorney-client privilege, the investigative files of insurance carriers have also been held to be protected from discovery as constituting work product. Surf Drugs, Inc. v. Vermette, 236 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1970); Reynolds v. Hoffman, 305 so.2d 294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); Colonial Penn Ins. Co. v. Blair, 380 So.2d 1305 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Alachua General Hospital, Inc. v. Zimmer USA, Inc., 403 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

The work product doctrine, however, is distinguishable from the attorney-client privilege, since work product materials are discoverable where there is a compelling necessity occasioned by exceptional circumstances. Surf Drugs, Inc. v. Vermette, 236 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1970); Florida Power & Light Co. v. Limeburger, 390 So.2d 133 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). In order to obtain such materials, however, there must be an affirmative showing by the party seeking discovery that the materials are needed for the preparation of the case and that substantially equivalent materials cannot be obtained by other means absent undue hardship. Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.280(b)(2); Transamerica Ins. Co. v. Maze, 318 So.2d 200 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Ins. Co. of North America v. Noya, 398 So.2d 428 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. U.S.C.P. Co., 515 So.2d 998 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

A significant exception to the protection which insurance company investigative and claim files have enjoyed over the years began to be carved out with this Court's early decision of Auto Mutual Indemnity Co. v. Shaw, 134 Fla. 815, 184 So. 852 (1938). In Auto Mutual Indemnity Co. v. Shaw, the right of an insured to bring a "bad faith" action against his own insurance carrier for failure to settle a third-party claim was first recognized:

* * * The prevailing rule seems to be, however, that the insurer must act in good faith toward the assured in its effort to negotiate a settlement. * * * [T]hat 'the insurer cannot escape liability by acting upon what it considers to be for its own interest alone, but it must also appear that it acted in good faith and dealt fairly with the insured. * * * This relationship imposes upon the insurer the duty, not under the terms of the contract strictly speaking, but because of and flowing from it, to act honestly and in good faith toward the insured' * * *. 184 So. at 859.

This was followed first by American Fire & Casualty Co. v. Davis, 146 So.2d 615, 617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962), and later by Thompson v.

Commercial Union Ins. Co. of New York, 250 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1971). In Thompson, the right to bring third-party "bad faith" actions was expanded, so that a judgment creditor could maintain an action directly against the tort-feasor's liability insurance company for recovery of a judgment in excess of the policy limits, based upon alleged fraud or "bad faith" of the insurer in the conduct or handling of the suit against its insured.

Most significantly, where a verdict exceeds the available insurance policy limits, and the carrier is alleged to have breached the duty it owed to its insured, all materials, including documents, memoranda, letters and files of attorneys retained by the insurance company are discoverable. Boston Old Colony Ins. Co. v. Gutierrez, 325 So.2d 416 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), Cert. denied, 336 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1976); Stone v. Travelers Ins. Co., 326 So.2d 241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

Historically, common law "bad faith" actions, in which discovery of insurance company claim files has been permitted, had been limited to third-party claims involving excess judgments against tort-feasors. Actions against insurance carriers for alleged "bad faith" in handling first party claims of their insureds for insurance benefits were not permitted at common law. The rationale for this limitation was best expressed in **Baxter v.** Royal Indemnity Co., 285 So.2d 652 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973), which involved a first-party common law claim by an insured against his own insurance company, for alleged "bad faith" in requiring its insured to resort to arbitration of an uninsured motorist claim, rather than paying the full amount of uninsured motorist coverage

benefits which were available. The insured also alleged that the insurance carrier acted in bad faith in that its actions were motivated by malice and warranted the imposition of punitive damages. In affirming the dismissal of the insured's complaint, the court stated that:

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