IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,388

PENELOPE R. KUJAWA, as beneficiary of JOHN A. KUJAWA, deceased, Petitioner,

v.

MANHATTAN NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation, Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF OPINION OF THE FLORIDA DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT

> SHUTTS & BOWEN Attorneys for Respondent 1500 Edward Ball Building Miami Center 100 Chopin Plaza Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-6300

BY: Richard M. Leslie, P.A. Brenton Ver Ploeg Maxine M. Long John K. Shubin

##

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First-party and third-party claims are intrinsically different, due to the very different nature of the contractual relationship between the parties in each case. The Florida Legislature, by enacting section 624.155, Fla.Stat. (1987), did not intend, either expressly or implicitly, to change the nature of the contractual relationship between insurers and their insureds and did not abolish the attorney-client privilege or work product immunity in first-party bad faith claims.

Section 624.155 imposes a duty of good faith on all insurers in discharging their contractual obligations. It does not change the nature of the contract or of the contractual relationship, where nothing in the legislative history or the plain language of the statute itself expressly or implicitly indicates any legislative intent to effect such a drastic change. To infer such an intent would be contrary to accepted principles of statutory construction and would render the statute constitutionally infirm.

The relationship between the insurer and its insured in a first-party case is adversarial by definition. Manhattan had a right and privilege to conduct a statutorily sanctioned contestability investigation, and a duty to do so in order not to discriminate unfairly between insureds who die of accidental and natural causes.

The relationship of the parties in a third-party case is, by contrast, intrinsically fiduciary in nature. The insurer retains its insured's counsel, controls the defense, and negotiates for the settlement or other disposition of the third-party's claim against the insured. Since the attorney retained by the insurer is the same one who represents the insured, the courts have quite reasonably held that neither the insurer nor its counsel can assert the attorney-client or work product doctrines to prevent discovery of documents that, after all, should already belong to the insured. It is not the assertion of a bad faith claim, but the fiduciary relationship, that is the basis for discovery in third-party cases.

In the absence of a fiduciary relationship, the first-party bad faith claimant should not be allowed to eviscerate the work product immunity and attorney-client privilege. Only upon a showing that one of the recognized exceptions to the immunity or privilege applies may a first-party bad faith claimant obtain discovery of the insurer's legal department files. If a mere allegation of bad faith were sufficient to obtain the insurer's investigative files, all insurance claims would contain such allegations.

The opinion of the Florida District Court of Appeal, Third District, in <u>Fidelity and Casualty Co. of New York v.</u> <u>Taylor</u>, 525 So.2d 908 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), is incorrect in assuming, without more, that the duty of good faith imposed by section 624.155, Fla.Stat. (1987), in first-party cases is identical to the fiduciary duty (imposed by contract) in third-party cases. From this premise, Taylor seeks to lay open the files of defense counsel for its adversary's inspection, once the primary claim is resolved, if a "need" for such files is shown. This reasoning, however, scrambles beyond separation the showing required to overcome the work product immunity with the much stronger showing needed to overcome a claim of attorney-client privilege.

Petitioner's argument is simply that <u>Taylor</u> should be the law, but a "bad faith" right of action does not carry in its pocket automatic entitlement to the adversary's files. The usual avenues of proof are available to the insured to prove breach of duty, or to seek relief from privileges asserted by the other side.

The Fourth District correctly focused on the nature of the relationship between the parties as the key to determining whether the discovery sought should be allowed. In the absence of a fiduciary relationship, attorney-client privilege and work product immunity are fully applicable in a first-party bad faith action. The statute requires no more, and the opinion below should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE, IN CREATING A FIRST-PARTY CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF THE DUTY OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING, DID NOT INTEND TO CHANGE THE ADVERSARIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE INSURER AND THE INSURED IN FIRST-PARTY INSURANCE CASES.

> A. In The Absence Of a Fiduciary Relationship Between The Parties, The Insured Is Not Entitled To Discovery Of Privileged Materials, Either Work Product or Attorney-Client, Upon The Mere Allegation Of a Cause Of Action Under § 624.155.

The duty of good faith and fair dealing imposed by § 624.155(1) applies to the discharge of the insurer's contractual responsibilities in both first-party and third-party insurance cases, and does not alter the nature of the contractual relationship itself. Thus, the important distinction drawn by the Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal between first-party and third-party cases as to discovery rights of the insured is correct and should be affirmed.

The Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal in its decision below correctly based its discovery ruling on the nature of the contractual relationship between the parties. In the third-party context, claims files of the insurer, including legal department files, are discoverable because of the fiduciary nature of the relationship between the insurer and the insured in such a case. In a first-party "bad faith" case, there is no fiduciary duty on the insurer, and the doctrines of work product immunity and attorney-client privilege are fully applicable.

This case involves a first-party insurance claim. First-party insurance includes life, health and disability, and property insurance. Third-party insurance is liability insurance, most commonly automobile insurance. The nature and purpose of the insurance contracted for, and the expectations of the parties with reference to such insurance, are intrinsically different in first-party and third-party cases.

Third-party insurance is intended to protect the insured against claims by third parties. The contractual relationship is fiduciary in nature, because under the terms of the policy the insurer has the exclusive right to investigate, defend, settle, or otherwise dispose of the claim against its insured, while the insured is required to rely exclusively upon the insurer and cooperate with the insurer's defense of the claim, at the peril of losing the benefits of the policy. By the nature of this relationship, the attorney for the insurer is also the attorney for the insured in a third-party case, and the attorney's work is produced on behalf of the insured as well as the insurer. Thus, the insurer cannot raise either work product immunity or attorney-client privilege as a bar to discovery by its insured in a subsequent action for the insurer's "bad faith" handling of a third-party claim. See, Stone v. Travelers Ins. Co., 326 So.2d 241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976);

Koken v. American Service Mut. Ins. Co., Inc., 330 So.2d 805 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

Florida courts have long recognized the right of a third party insured to bring a bad faith claim against his insurer "for failing in good faith to settle a third party's claim, thus exposing him to liability in excess of his insurance coverage." <u>Opperman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 515 So.2d 263, 265 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). By enacting § 624.155(1)(b), the Florida legislature has provided a remedy to first-party insureds whose claims have not been settled in good faith by their insurers. The extension of a right of action, however, does not alter the relationship between the parties in a first-party case, nor does it change or extend the insured's right of discovery in connection with a first-party bad faith claim.

The statute in question states in pertinent part:

(1) Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is damaged:...

(b) By the commission of any of the following acts by the insurer:

1. Not attempting in good faith to settle claims when, under all the circumstances, it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly toward its insured and with due regard for his interests;...

Section 624.155(1)(b)(1), Fla. Stat. (1987). This statute was the first in the United States to legislatively create a

private cause of action under the Unfair Insurance Trade Practice Act, thereby adopting what is generally known as a "Royal Globe" cause of action, after the California Supreme Court's 1979 decision in <u>Royal Globe Insurance Company v.</u> <u>Superior Court</u>, 592 P.2d 329 (Cal. 1979). Ironically, <u>Royal</u> <u>Globe</u> has since been overruled by the California Supreme Court in <u>Moradi-Shalal v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.</u>, 46 Cal.3d 287, 758 P.2d 58 (1988).

At the most, this statute provides that the parties to a first-party insurance contract owe each other a duty to "deal in good faith" in discharging their contractual obligations. Staff Report, as cited in <u>United Guar. Residential Ins. Co. of</u> <u>Iowa v. Alliance Mortgage Co.</u>, 644 F.Supp. 339, 342 n.4 (M.D.Fla. 1986). This is not a fiduciary duty.

Kujawa ingenuously claims that it is "obvious" that the Florida Legislature intended that the "duty of fair dealing" under § 624.155 be "construed as identical to the fiduciary duty that exists in third-party 'bad faith' actions." (Kujawa Brief at 24). This is clearly wrong. Not only does it misread the legislative history of the statute, but it also flies in the face of Florida case law that holds that in a first-party situation there is no fiduciary duty between the insurer and insured.

Far from being fiduciary in nature, the insurer and insured in the first-party context stand in a debtor-creditor relationship which is essentially adversarial in nature. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Douville, 510 So.2d 1200, 1201 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Iowa Nat'l Mut. Ins. Co. v. Worthy, 447 So.2d 998, 1002 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (no fiduciary relationship between insured and personal injury protection insurer); Smith v. Standard Guardian Ins. Co., 435 So.2d 848, 849 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)(first-party collision loss claim, <u>held</u>: no fiduciary duty), review denied, 441 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1983). Correspondingly, this failure to find a fiduciary duty in the first-party claim has been endorsed almost unanimously by courts of other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Quick v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 429 So.2d 1033, 1034-35 (Ala. 1983); Johnson v. Federal Kemper Ins. Co., 74 Md. App. 243, 536 A.2d 1211, 1213 (1988); Duncan v. Andrew County Mut. Ins. Co., 665 S.W.2d 13, 18-19 (Mo. Ct. App. 1983); Ellmex Constr. Co. v. Republic Ins. Co., 202 N.J. Super. 195, 494 A.2d 339, 345, 348 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1985), certification denied, 103 N.J. 453, 511 A.2d 639 (1986); Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 701 P.2d 795, 798-800 (Utah 1985); See also, Kanne v. Connecticut General Life Ins. Co., 607 F.Supp. 899, 908 (C.D. Cal. 1985)("While Connecticut General is obliged to act in good faith and deal fairly, this

is not a fiduciary duty.").1/ Furthermore, recognizing this distinction, Florida courts have traditionally relied on the nature of the relationship between the parties in ruling on discovery requests in third-party cases. <u>United States Fire</u> <u>Ins. Co. v. Clearwater Oaks Bank</u>, 421 So.2d 783 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); <u>Travelers Ins. Co. v. Habelow</u>, 405 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); <u>Agri-Business, Inc. v. Bridges</u>, 397 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); <u>Koken</u>, 330 So.2d 805; <u>Baxter v. Royal Indem.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 285 So.2d 652 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973).

Since no fiduciary duty in a first-party situation has been implied by law, to the extent that Kujawa claims it exists, this duty must have been created by the Florida legislature when it enacted § 624.155. Unfortunately for Kujawa, however,

In Kanne, a first-party case, the parents of a sick child sued several insurance carriers participating in a group medical insurance policy for failing to cover airline expenses incurred in transporting their child to receive medical treatment. Addressing the plaintiffs' "breach of fiduciary duty" claim, the Kanne court first recognized that an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing "did not create a fiduciary relationship." Kanne, 607 F.Supp at 908:

> In the insurance contract, the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing requires no more than "that each party is prevented from interfering with the other's right to benefit from the contract." <u>Miller</u> <u>v. Elite Ins. Co.</u>, 100 Cal. App.3d 739, 756, 161 Cal.Rptr. 322, 331, (1980).

Thus, it is not correct to assume, as the petitioner does, that the duty of fair dealing imposed by § 624.155 creates a fiduciary duty between insured and insurer for the purposes of obtaining documents through discovery.

this argument must fail, since such an enactment would be in direct contravention of the substantial body of judicial precedent cited above. The legislature is presumed to be acquainted with judicial decisions on a subject concerning which it subsequently enacts a statute. Ford v. Wainright, 451 So.2d 471, 475 (Fla. 1984), and is deemed to be "fully cognizant of the status of Florida's common law at the time of enactment." Jones v. Continental Ins. Co., 670 F. Supp. 937, 942 (S.D. Fla. 1987). The court in Jones noted the continued distinction between the parties' relationship in first- and third-party cases:

> The relationship between the insurer and insured, whether fiducial or <u>adversarial</u>, would be one factor to be considered by the trier of fact in determining whether the insurance company had breached a duty of good faith.

<u>Id</u>. at 944 (emphasis added). As noted in <u>Opperman</u>, this is because the legal duty of good faith is independent of, and does not change, the parties' contractual obligations. 515 So.2d at 267. Thus, the courts interpreting the statute to date, except for the anomalous decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Taylor</u>, have continued to draw a distinction between first-party and third-party claims, in accordance with the status of Florida's common law at the time the statute was enacted.

In this case, the plain language of § 624.155, coupled with its legislative history, leads to one conclusion - that

there was no legislative intent, explicit or implicit, to extend a fiduciary duty to any first-party claim. Without this duty, there is no right to the automatic discovery sought by Kujawa in this first-party "bad faith" claim.

> B. The "Plain Meaning" Of The Statute Shows No Intent To Abolish The Attorney-Client Privilege Or Work Product Immunity, Either Expressly Or Implicitly, And Such A Construction Would Be Unconstitutional.

Although it now appears accepted that § 624.155(1)(b) extends a cause of action to a first-party insured against its insurer for bad faith refusal to settle, <u>Opperman v. Nationwide</u> <u>Mut. Fire Ins. Co.</u>, 515 So.2d 263 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), a "plain meaning" analysis can in no way support the argument that the statute either explicitly or implicitly abrogates the attorney-client privilege or work product immunity in first-party cases. In fact, the "plain meaning" reasoning utilized by the <u>Opperman</u> court and endorsed by Kujuwa refutes this contention.

Although legislative intent is considered to be controlling as to the construction of a statute, this intent is best determined from the language of the statute itself. <u>St.</u> <u>Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm</u>, 414 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982). Accordingly, rules of statutory construction need not be considered where the language of a statute is, on its face, clear and unambiguous. <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1984).

Not even the most liberal interpretation of § 624.155

17

could lead to the conclusion, under a "plain meaning" analysis, that either the work product immunity or the attorney-client privilege was intended to be abolished by the legislature as not applicable in a first-party situation. Nor is it correct to link the extension of an insurer's duty under the statute of good faith and fair dealing to an implicit abrogation of the privileges simply because some third-party cases have allowed discovery of claims file materials. This approach confuses the contractual duties of the parties with the statutory duty imposed by § 624.155, and attempts to infer legislative intent from non-legislative sources where the statute itself is clear.

Despite Kujawa's best efforts to confuse the two issues, the duty to act in good faith in the first-party situation merely goes to the substance of the bad faith cause of action, not to discovery. Even in the third-party situation, discovery rights are not automatically triggered upon the simple act of asserting bad faith; rather, it is the contractual relationship of the parties that is the basis for discovery.

In rejecting Kujawa's unsupported insistence that the issues were interrelated, the Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly stated:

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